
IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF FEDERAL CLAIMS 
________________________________________________ 

) 
PEANUT WAGON, INC., ) 

) 
v.       ) No. ________________ 

) 
THE UNITED STATES. ) 

) 
________________________________________________) 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc. (“PWI”), a corporation owned by Demosthenis (“Dan”) and 

Mary Hountalas, maintained and operated The Cliff House restaurant facility in San Francisco, 

California under a concession contract issued by the National Park Service (“NPS”).  PWI began 

maintaining and operating The Cliff House in 1973.  When NPS acquired ownership of the 

facility in 1977, NPS had Mr. and Mrs. Hountalas continue maintaining and operating the site 

under concession contracts.  The most recent concession contract required PWI to spend at least 

$7,975,000 of its own money to rehabilitate the NPS owned structures at the site, but NPS 

promised PWI under the concession contract and applicable statutes that NPS would compensate 

PWI for its investment.  Under the terms of the contract, NPS and PWI agreed that once the 

rehabilitation was completed, PWI would reduce the amount it was owed by about $260,000 per 

year until the end of the contract on June 30, 2018.  At that point, NPS would pay PWI 

$4,329,984 less any prepayments NPS had made towards that balance before the contract 

expired.   

When the contract expired on June 30, 2018, NPS asked PWI to stay on because NPS had 

not been diligent in setting up a follow-on contract and needed PWI to continue to ensure there 

was no interruption in services to the public.  PWI agreed, even though it would operate at a loss.  

When it became clear in 2020 that NPS was not going to issue a follow-on contract in the next 
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few years, PWI had to stem its losses and end its operations.  At that point, NPS tried to renege 

on its agreement by claiming that NPS was allowed to continue to reduce PWI’s payment by 

$260,000 per year for the time PWI agreed to stay on at NPS’s request while NPS claimed it was 

trying to set up a follow-on contract.  PWI is suing to receive the full and fair amount it is owed 

under the contract.  

 In addition, NPS admitted that it intends to select a successor for the operations at The 

Cliff House.  Under the contract, PWI had a right to sell its personal property to that successor.  

In addition, PWI would have had the opportunity to sell or license its rights to the name “The 

Cliff House” to that successor as well.  However, when PWI informed NPS that PWI could no 

longer stay on due to the losses it was incurring, NPS disingenuously asserted that NPS was 

“temporarily” discontinuing operations and therefore PWI had no right under the contact to sell 

any of its property to the successor.  NPS then demanded that PWI remove its personal property 

from the premises, forcing PWI to conduct a fire sale to mitigate its damages.  PWI is seeking 

the full amounts it was entitled to and would have received for all of its personal property under 

the contract’s provisions for the continuation of operations but for NPS’ violation of those 

contract obligations, including NPS’ violation of its duty of good faith, fair dealing and 

cooperation. 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff PWI is a corporation located in San Francisco, California and formed under the 

laws of the State of California. 

2. Defendant is the United States of America acting through NPS, an agency under the 

Department of the Interior.  NPS executed the concession contract at issue.  
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JURISDICTION 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1491 (the Tucker 

Act) as claims “against the United States founded either upon the Constitution, or any Act of 

Congress or any regulation of any executive department or upon any express or implied contract 

with the United States.” 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

4. The Cliff House restaurant is located in San Francisco, California on a cliff overlooking 

the Pacific Ocean. 

5. The Cliff House is an internationally recognized tourist destination. 

6. The first restaurant at the site began operating in 1863. 

7. Dan and Mary Hountalas took over management and operation of The Cliff House 

restaurant in 1973. 

8. In 1974, Dan and Mary Hountalas incorporated PWI for purposes of continuing their 

management and operation of The Cliff House restaurant.  

9. Shortly thereafter, in 1977 NPS acquired ownership of the facilities at The Cliff House 

and took over administration of the site as part of the Golden Gate National Recreation Area 

(“GGNRA”). 

10. NPS desired to have PWI continue operating and managing The Cliff House facility and 

the parties entered into their first contract for this purpose in 1978, which was a conditional use 

permit that expired in 1981. 
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11. After 1981, NPS continued to issue successive permits to PWI in varying durations to 

ensure PWI continued operating The Cliff House facility, and repeatedly praised PWI’s excellent 

performance in fulfilling NPS’s mission to serve the public at this venerable facility. 

12. During this period and even though PWI continued to successfully operate and provide 

routine maintenance for the facility, the aging facility became more and more dilapidated due to 

NPS’s refusal to devote agency funds to rehabilitate it.  

13. As of 1998 and due to NPS’s lack of investment of its own funds in the facilities, The 

Cliff House structure was in need of extensive and expensive rehabilitation, including upgrades 

needed to comply with modern building codes, which would cost millions of dollars. 

14. NPS sought to take advantage of the provisions and goals of the 1965 Concessions Act 

(codified at 16 U.S.C. § 20 et seq.) by requiring a private party to invest its own funds into the 

rehabilitation of The Cliff House facilities. 

15. One of the key goals of the 1965 Concessions Act was for NPS to induce private entities 

to invest their private funds in public concession facilities for the benefit of the public by 

ensuring those private investments would be protected. 

16. The 1965 Concessions Act stated that “the Secretary of the Interior shall take such action 

as may be appropriate to encourage and enable private persons and corporations (hereinafter 

referred to as ‘concessioners’) to provide and operate facilities and services which he deems 
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desirable for the accommodation of visitors in areas administered by the National Park Service.”  

16 U.S.C. § 20a. 

17. Again reiterating that Congress recognized the critical need to assure private entities that 

their investments in these important public service facilities would be protected, the 1965 

Concessions Act further stated: 

Without limitation of the foregoing, the Secretary may include in contracts for the 
providing of facilities and services such terms and conditions as, in his judgment, 
are required to assure the concessioner of adequate protection against loss of 
investment in structures, fixtures, improvements, equipment, supplies, and other 
tangible property provided by him for the purposes of the contract (but not against 
loss of anticipated profits) resulting from discretionary acts, policies, or decisions 
of the Secretary occurring after the contract has become effective under which acts, 
policies, or decisions the concessioner's authority to conduct some or all of his 
authorized operations under the contract ceases or his structures, fixtures, and 
improvements, or any of them, are required to be transferred to another party or to 
be abandoned, removed, or demolished. Such terms and conditions may include an 
obligation of the United States to compensate the concessioner for the loss of 
investment, as aforesaid. 
 
The Secretary shall exercise his authority in a manner consistent with a reasonable 
opportunity for the concessioner to realize a profit on his operation as a whole 
commensurate with the capital invested and the obligations assumed. 

 
16 U.S.C. § 20b. 

18. In 1997, NPS issued a solicitation pursuant to the 1965 Concessions Act for a long-term 

concession contract which included an obligation on the part of the successful awardee to spend 

its own funds to renovate the facility. 

19. PWI’s proposal in response to the solicitation was accepted by NPS. 

20. On September 16, 1998, the parties entered into a concession contract effective July 1, 

1998 under which PWI would renovate the existing facility back to its 1909 design, construct a 
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new wing and during this effort still continue to provide restaurant and visitor services at The 

Cliff House (CC-GOGA010-98) (the “Contract”) (attached hereto as Exhibit A as amended). 

21. The Contract was entered into pursuant to the 1965 Concessions Act.  Contract A at 2. 

22. While NPS could have issued a contract for a longer term, NPS chose to have the 

Contract end in twenty years on June 30, 2018.  Contract at 1.  

23. The Contract recognized the statutory direction in the 1965 Concessions Act as a 

fundamental basis for the parties entering into the Contract, stating on page 1: 

WHEREAS, pursuant to law the Secretary is required to exercise his authority 
hereunder in a manner consistent with a reasonable opportunity by the 
Concessioner to realize a profit on the operations conducted hereunder as a whole 
commensurate with the capital invested and the obligations assumed.  

 
24. The 1965 Concessions Act and the Contract clearly recognized that, because inducing 

private investment in public concession facilities very much benefitted the public, it was in the 

public’s interest to protect the amount a concessioner such as PWI received from its investment 

at the end of the Contract. 

25. In consideration of the statutory and contractual obligations provided by NPS in the 

Contract, PWI agreed under the Contract to invest its own private funds of at least $7,975,000 to 

complete an improvement and building program which would significantly upgrade The Cliff 

House restaurant facility.  Contract at Sec. 1(b).   

26. To induce PWI to invest its funds, the Contract provided that PWI “shall have a 

Possessory Interest to the extent provided elsewhere in this CONTRACT in capital 
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improvements [] it makes to Government Improvements [] with the written permission of” NPS.  

Contract at Sec. 4(b)(2).   

27. The Contract also provided that PWI would be paid for its Possessory Interest, stating 

that “[i]n the event that such Possessory Interest is acquired by the Secretary or a successor 

concessioner at any time, the Concessioner will be compensated for such Possessory Interest 

pursuant to Section 13 hereof.”  Contract at Sec. 4(b)(2). 

28. Section 6 of the Contract set forth the durability of the Possessory Interest value, stating 

that “Possessory Interest in [] Government Improvements shall not be extinguished by the 

expiration or other termination of this CONTRACT, and may not be terminated or taken for 

public use without just compensation as determined in accordance with Section 13.  Performance 

of the obligations assumed by the Secretary under Section 13 hereof shall constitute just 

compensation with respect to the taking of Possessory Interest.”  Contract at Sec. 6(b)(2). 

29. Pursuant to NPS’s goal of providing adequate assurances to PWI that the investment of 

PWI’s private funds to rehabilitate the agency’s concession facilities would be protected, Section 

13 of the Contract provided certain rights to PWI at the expiration of the Contract on June 30, 

2018. 

30. Section 13(b)(1) of the Contract provided that, if as of June 30, 2018 NPS “intends” to 

continue the same or similar operations being provided by PWI using a successor entity at some 

point in the future, PWI was required to and had the right to sell to that successor its Possessory 

Interest and all other tangible property which it had used or held for use in the concession area in 
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connection with its operations.  Section 13(b)(1) states particularly: “If for any reason, including 

CONTRACT expiration [] described herein, the Concessioner shall cease to be required by the 

Secretary to conduct operations hereunder, [] and at the time of such event the Secretary intends 

for substantially the same or similar operations to be continued by a successor,” the concessioner 

has the right to sell its tangible property to the successor. (Emphasis added.)   

31. NPS in turn had to require that successor to purchase PWI’s Possessory Interest and all 

other tangible property from PWI and pay PWI the fair value of the tangible property.  Contract 

at Sec. 13(b) (1) (ii). 

32. This right is implemented after the Contract expires and therefore clearly survives the 

expiration of the Contract. 

33. PWI had to invest significant funds to purchase tangible personal property to operate The 

Cliff House successfully. 

34. The Contract also contained a provision setting out PWI’s rights to compensation in the 

event that, as of June 30, 2018, NPS “chooses to discontinue such operations.”  Contract at Sec. 

13(c).   

35. In such a situation, PWI was still entitled to compensation for its Possessory Interest 

value but was not required to nor had the right to force a sale of its tangible personal property to 

any entity.  Contract at Sec. 13(c). 
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36. Section 13(b)(3) and (c)(1) of the Contract stated that, in the event NPS either intended to 

continue or chose to discontinue operations after June 30, 2018, PWI’s Possessory Interest value 

would be calculated using “the original cost of the improvements less straight line depreciation 

over the estimated useful life of the asset according to Generally Accepted Accounting 

Principles, provided, however, that in no event shall any such useful life exceed 30 years.” 

37. If for any reason the clauses in the Contract regarding the valuation of PWI’s Possessory 

Interest did not apply to the situation at hand (i.e., NPS neither intended for the same or similar 

operations to continue nor had chosen to discontinue operations at the expiration of the 

Contract), the 1998 Concessions Act reiterated the 1965 Concessions Act required default 

method for determining the Possessory Interest which was to assess the sound value of the 

structures and not take into account any scheduled depreciation.  54 U.S.C. § 101915(c); 16 

U.S.C. § 20e. 

38. In addition to the clauses set out in the Contract, the Contract as a matter of law 

contained an unwritten requirement that NPS had a duty of good faith, fair dealing and 

cooperation as to PWI’s ability to obtain the benefit of the bargain as set out in the Contract 

and the agency’s exercise of any discretion it had which impacted PWI’s Contract rights. 

39.   This implied contractual duty was to be exercised consistent with the 1965 

Concession Act’s requirement that NPS “shall exercise [its] authority in a manner 

consistent with a reasonable opportunity for the concessioner to realize a profit on his 

operation as a whole commensurate with the capital invested and the obligations assumed.”  

16 U.S.C. § 20b. 
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40. The initial building and improvement program set out in the Contract consisted of the 

following extensive efforts:  

Retain the 1909 [Cliff House] core building and rehabilitate its significant features.  
Make the core building, any additions, and all building systems compatible with 
current building codes.  In the existing building, demolish the southern, western 
and northern additions.  Demolish the North Annex and restore the site.  Square 
footage may be added to the north side of the core building.  The project may have 
a maximum size of roughly 20,525 square feet of total building area.  Generally, 
the project should remain within the existing footprint of the core building and the 
current north annex. 
 
Install elevator service for patrons of the facility as well as for general park visitors 
requiring access between the street and the terrace level. 
 
Provide, within the structure, an operable camera obscura with appropriate space 
for public display/presentation. 
 
Construction shall be undertaken so as to achieve energy efficiency and sustainable 
design practices in both initial design and future operations. 

 
Contract at Sec. 1(b)(1). 

41. PWI began work on the design and construction of the building and improvement 

program set out in Section 1 of the Contract on July 1, 1998 (ultimately the parties agreed to add 

the Sutro Restaurant and Bar which increased the size of the project to approximately 25,000 

square feet). 

42. Two months after the parties entered into the Contract, on November 13, 1998 Congress 

enacted the National Park Service Concessions Management Improvement Act of 1998.  Public 

Law 105-391 (November 13, 1998)(Sec. 401 et seq.)(the “1998 Concessions Act”)(currently 

codified at 54 U.S.C. § 101913 et seq.). 

43. The 1998 Concessions Act repealed the 1965 Concessions Act.  Public Law 105-391 at 

Section 415. 
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44. While repealing the 1965 Concessions Act, the 1998 Concessions Act also ensured it did 

not interfere with any rights provided under existing concession contracts, stating that “[t]he 

repeal of such Act shall not affect the validity of any concession contract or permit entered into 

under such Act, but the provisions of this title shall apply to any such contract or permit except 

to the extent such provisions are inconsistent with the terms and conditions of any such contract 

or permit.”  Public Law 105-391 at Section 415. 

45. In addition, the 1998 Concessions Act contained a savings provision for any Possessory 

Interest held by concessioners under contracts in place as of the date the 1998 Concessions Act 

was enacted.  54 U.S.C. § 101915(c).  The savings provision also reiterated the 1965 Concession 

Act’s default method for determining the Possessory Interest in the event the Contract’s terms as 

to determining the Possessory Interest value at the expiration of the Contract did not specifically 

apply, which was to assess the sound value of the structures and not take into account any 

scheduled depreciation.   

46. The savings provision in the 1998 Concessions Act stated: 

A concessioner which has obtained a possessory interest (as defined pursuant to 
[the 1965 Concessions Act] as in effect on the day before November 13, 1998) 
under the terms of a concession contract entered into before November 13, 1998, 
shall, upon the expiration or termination of the concession contract, be entitled to 
receive compensation for the possessory interest improvements in the amount and 
manner as described by the concession contract. Where that possessory interest is 
not described in the existing concession contract, compensation of possessory 
interest shall be determined in accordance with the laws in effect on November 12, 
1998. 

 
54 U.S.C. § 101915(c). 

47. In order to reduce costs to ensure the design and construction process could be completed 

and operations continued during the period PWI was engaged in the rehabilitation of The Cliff 
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House facilities for NPS, Mr. Hountalas voluntarily stopped taking a salary as the President of 

PWI as of January 1, 1999. 

48. During PWI’s efforts to complete the Contract’s improvement and building program, 

NPS repeatedly caused delays in that effort, including by repeatedly changing the design plans 

for the construction effort and turning the planned rehabilitation project into more of a 

restoration project which added significant time and expense in the procurement of restorative 

materials. 

49. PWI successfully completed the building and improvement program set out in Section 1 

of the Contract in late 2004, expending a total of at least $14,000,000 of its own funds to 

rehabilitate The Cliff House. 

50. In order to reduce costs to ensure the restaurant operations could continue after the 

prolonged design and construction effort was completed, Mrs. Hountalas voluntarily stopped 

taking a salary as the Chief Financial Officer of PWI as of January 1, 2004. 

51. The delay in the completion of the renovations due to NPS’s actions deprived PWI of 

several years of full revenues from a completed facility and thus the ability to amortize its 

extensive investment before the end of the Contract. 

52. While the Contract did not initially require a franchise fee to be paid during the design 

and construction efforts from July 1, 1998 through late 2004, during this period PWI was 

required to deposit 10% of its gross revenues into a fund (the “GIA”) to be used toward the 

construction pursuant to the Contract’s terms, but which amounts were not included in PWI’s 

Possessory Interest value. 
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53. PWI had requested a reduction in this 10% deposit due to it having to operate at a 

significant loss during the imposition of the GIA (the reduction would also have added to the 

Possessory Interest PWI would receive at the end of the Contract assuming it would have 

expended the same amount of its funds on the project), but NPS refused. 

54. For the period following completion of the renovation projects in 2004 and through the 

end of the Contract on June 30, 2018, PWI operated at a substantial loss when the fair market 

salary costs of Mr. and Mrs. Hountalas as the President and Chief Financial Officer are taken 

into account, as would be the case in any valuation of the operation. 

55. Because PWI operated at a substantial loss due to the actions and decisions of NPS, 

NPS violated the Congressional mandate in the 1965 Concessions Act that the agency 

“shall exercise [its] authority in a manner consistent with a reasonable opportunity for the 

concessioner to realize a profit on his operation as a whole commensurate with the capital 

invested and the obligations assumed.” 

56. During this same period, NPS received approximately $1,065,000 in franchise fees from 

PWI in addition to the amounts PWI was paying into the 10% GIA fund.   

57. Nonetheless, as a result of the extraordinary effort of the Hountalas’ and their personal 

commitment to the facility, The Cliff House became a fully modernized facility which the San 

Francisco Board of Supervisors lauded in 2009 as a facility that would “serve San Francisco 

residents as well as citizens from all over the world who visit for its rich history, elegant 

atmosphere, magnificent food, and charming views of the Pacific Ocean. . . .”   

58. In 2009, the parties agreed to Amendment No. 2 of the Contract which set out the value 

of the Possessory Interest for projects completed as of that date as well as a schedule setting out 
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the annual value of the Possessory Interest through the end of the Contract on June 30, 2018 

using straight line depreciation over the estimated useful life of the asset. 

59. The purpose of lowering the Possessory Interest value via a depreciation schedule was so 

that, upon the Contract expiring and being recompeted, the succeeding concessioner would have 

a lower ‘buy in’ cost which would enhance competition for that succeeding contract to the 

benefit of NPS. 

60. Thus, depreciating the Possessory Interest was solely for the benefit of NPS and solely to 

the detriment of PWI. 

61. Amendment No. 2 set out a total value of the Possessory Interest as of 2009 in the 

amount of $9,079,494.  Contract, Amendment No. 2 at page 7 of 8. 

62. Because not all of the projects which qualified for Possessory Interest were initiated at 

the same time and because some projects were being added to the schedule while other existing 

projects were being depreciated, the schedule set out in Amendment No. 2 does not contain a 

beginning figure of $9,079,494. 

63. The schedule sets out the depreciation from December 31, 2004 through the Contract 

expiration on June 30, 2108, explicitly and very deliberately noting the date of the Contract’s 

expiration and the amount owed as of June 30, 2018.  

64. As set out in Amendment No. 2, the Possessory Interest value as of the expiration of the 

Contract on June 30, 2018 was $4,329,984. 

65. The schedule also shows the scheduled depreciation annually until all of the value would 

be fully depreciated, which would occur eighteen years after the Contract expired. 
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66. Amendment No. 2 stated that the “schedule of the total depreciated value of such 

possessory interest over its useful life is included for reference purposes.”  

67. The Contract also showed at Section 13(b)(3) that the full schedule of depreciation was 

set out to notify any successor to the Contract that it would be required to agree to that schedule 

of depreciation to continue lowering the Possessory Interest value once it took over operations.   

68. However, at the end of their useful life, the improvements would still retain significant 

value because PWI and any successor concessioner was required to continue to maintain the 

improvements. 

69. Thus, the deductions for scheduled depreciation did not reflect the actual reduction in 

value of the improvements and do not represent the actual loss being incurred by NPS each year. 

70. Under Amendment No. 2, NPS insisted on imposing a franchise fee of 10% for any gross 

revenues above $11,500,000 for 2009, with the qualifying gross revenue amount being adjusted 

annually thereafter by applying 50% of the CPI to the $11,500,000. 

71. Pursuant to Amendment No. 3 issued in February 2012, the parties agreed that NPS could 

make pre-payments of PWI’s Possessory Interest value which would reduce the amount 

otherwise owed to PWI for that value.  NPS insisted that the amendment provide that NPS be 

credited with interest on each prepayment at the full CPI rate for each year after the pre-payment 

and until NPS paid the full balance of the Possessory Interest.  Because the Possessory Interest 

value itself was not being adjusted by the CPI rate, this term resulted in PWI effectively having 

to pay interest on the money pre-paid by NPS. 
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72. Because of the lack of profitability and the expansion of the construction period as 

pleaded above, which essentially reduced the period of the Contract during which a profit could 

be made from 20 to 13 years, PWI had been continuously requesting an extension of the Contract 

since completion of the project in 2005, and in early 2016 PWI formally requested in writing that 

NPS consider providing PWI with an extension of the Contract to give PWI an opportunity to 

realize a reasonable profit under the Contract. 

73. NPS did not respond at that time.  

74. Later in 2016, it became apparent to both parties that the existing heating, ventilation and 

air conditioning (“HVAC”) system at The Cliff House was about to fail. 

75. Even though the Contract would expire in two years, NPS forced PWI pursuant to 

Section 4(e) of the Contract to replace the HVAC system with a new system so that a successor 

would have the benefit of a new system. 

76. Pursuant to this clause, NPS required PWI to essentially do NPS’s work for it and 

develop a scope of work and solicit bids for the repair of the HVAC system at the facility.   

77. PWI and NPS agreed that NPS would provide PWI with a contractual right to be 

compensated for the Possessory Interest value of PWI’s efforts to reflect the costs PWI incurred 

to install the new HVAC system. 

78. The parties also agreed that, upon completion of the new HVAC system, the Possessory 

Interest value of the HVAC would be depreciated on a straight-line basis over a 15-year period. 

79. Well prior to 2017, NPS was fully aware that its process for proceeding with a 

competition for new concession contracts or leases takes extensive time.  
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80. NPS, however, did not begin this process in a timely manner to ensure a successor could 

be selected at the time the Contract expired. 

81. By letter dated March 2, 2017, NPS finally contacted PWI to inform it that NPS refused 

to extend the Contract, rejecting PWI’s contention that it had not had a reasonable opportunity to 

realize a profit on its significant investment. 

82. In that same letter, however, NPS asserted that it did need to extend the Contract for its 

own purposes because, while NPS intended to continue operations with a successor 

concessioner, NPS had failed to engage in timely efforts to select and put in place a successor 

after June 30, 2018. 

83. Because of its own delays, NPS stated that it would be seeking to extend the Contract for 

no more than one year to prevent any interruption to visitor services because the agency needed 

more time to seek a successor. 

84. NPS did not state to PWI that the agency believed the scheduled depreciation of PWI’s 

Possessory Interest value, which was solely for the benefit of NPS and to the detriment of PWI, 

would continue past the Contract’s expiration date of June 30, 2018. 

85. Nor is there any language in the Contract which would indicate that depreciation 

deduction would survive after the Contract expired. 

86. Nor did PWI believe that, by PWI agreeing to continue to operate at the request of NPS 

to give the agency more time to select a successor and avoid an interruption to the public’s 

enjoyment of the facility, any reduction of its Possessory Interest value would continue after 

June 30, 2018. 
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87. Because the scheduled depreciation reduced PWI’s Possessory Interest value by 

approximately $260,000 per year, PWI would be further precluded from a reasonable 

opportunity to obtain a profit if that cost of operating was imposed on PWI during the time it 

continued to provide services at the request of NPS to avoid an interruption of visitor services. 

88. Under such terms, PWI would be precluded from any much less a reasonable opportunity 

to realize a net profit under its operations, in direct contravention of both the 1965 Concessions 

Act at 16 U.S.C. § 20b(b) and the 1998 Concessions Act at 54 U.S.C. § 101917(a). 

89. Therefore, there is no reasonable basis for NPS to assert that the implied-in-fact contract 

included the continued reductions of PWI’s Possessory Interest value. 

90. NPS also stated in its March 2, 2017 letter that “[a]ny additional Possessory Interest 

incurred as a result of the HVAC Project will be added to the previously approved amount and 

will be paid at the end of the Contract term,” which was June 30, 2018.   

91. Consistent with the parties’ prior communications, by letter dated February 12, 2018, 

NPS stated that “an extension of NPS Concession Contract No. CC-GOGA010-98 [] is necessary 

in order to avoid interruption of visitor services” and stated that “the Contract is hereby extended 

until December 31, 2018.”   

92. PWI objected to a six-month extension due to the lack of profitability during such a term 

and requested a longer term so that it could implement appropriate plans for a profitable 

operation.   
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93. NPS rejected PWI’s request, and as a result PWI signed the NPS letter on February 17, 

2018 in an effort to cooperate with the agency even though PWI projected that it would operate 

at a loss. (In fact, PWI ended up with an operating loss of approximately $353,805 for 2018.) 

94. NPS, however, failed to comply with the law when it attempted to extend the Contract 

past June 30, 2018. 

95. Section 51.23 of 36 C.F.R., which implements the 198 Concessions Act, states that NPS 

“must publish notice in the Federal Register of the proposed extension at least 30 days in 

advance of the award of the extension (except in emergency situations).” (Emphasis added). 

96. The present situation was clearly not an emergency situation. 

97. NPS failed to comply with 36 C.F.R. § 51.23 and instead published a notice in the 

Federal Register on February 28, 2018, 16 days after it had stated it had awarded an extension to 

PWI. 

98. In that Federal Register notice issued 16 days after NPS stated it had awarded an 

extension of the Contract, NPS contradictorily stated that it “proposes to extend” the Contract for 

operations at The Cliff House even though NPS had in fact stated to PWI in its letter dated 

February 12, 2018 that “the Contract is hereby extended.” 83 Fed. Reg at 8701. 

99. In the Federal Register notice, NPS also stated that “[t]he publication of this notice 

merely reflects the intent of the National Park Service and does not bind the National Park 

Service to extend or award any of the contracts listed below,” which included the contract for 

services at The Cliff House.  83 Fed. Reg at 8701. 
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100. At no time after issuing the Federal Register notice did NPS state that it was extending 

the Contract nor did it seek PWI’s acceptance of any such offer to extend the Contract. 

101. As a result of NPS’s failure to comply with the mandatory requirement that any extension 

of an existing concession contract be preceded by a publication in the Federal Register, NPS’s 

effort to extend the Contract was not legally valid. 

102. As a result, the Contract expired on June 30, 2018. 

103. Because the Contract expired on June 30, 2018, as of July 1, 2018, the parties were 

proceeding under an implied-in-fact contract. 

104. Notably, if the Contract had been extended past June 30, 2018, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 

101913(2),(11)(A) and 36 C.F.R. § 51.23, which authorize NPS to award an extension of an 

existing concession contract in certain circumstances and pursuant to set criteria, a contract 

which is validly extended after enactment of the 1998 Concessions Act is made pursuant to non-

competitive “award” which, as set out in 36 C.F.R. § 51.3, “establishes” a new concession 

contract. 

105. Thus, because Congress directed that an “award” of an extension “establishes” a new 

contract, any Possessory Interest under the prior contract is converted into a Leasehold Surrender 

Interest (LSI) under the new contract established by the award of the extension.  

106. In addition, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 101915(b)(6), a concession contract issued pursuant 

to the 1998 Concessions Act may not use straight-line depreciation on an LSI value that is less 

than $10,000,000. 
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107. Because either the PI or LSI value at issue at the expiration of the Contract was far less 

than $10,000,000, the 1998 Concessions Act precludes any continued straight-line depreciation 

of that value after June 30, 2018 even if the Contract had been validly extended pursuant to the 

regulations. 

108. Because NPS did not comply with the legal requirements for extending the Contract past 

June 30, 2018, the amount owed to PWI under the Contract for its Possessory Interest was fixed 

at $4,329,984, less any adjustments for prepayments made by NPS. 

109. Through the remaining Contract term per Amendment No. 3 to the Contract, NPS began 

to periodically make pre-payments to PWI to reduce the Possessory Interest value owed to PWI, 

with the first of such pre-payments being made on March 14, 2012. 

110. Prior to expiration of the Contract NPS made a total of $3,500,000 in pre-payments, and 

after Contract expiration made an additional pre-payment of $100,000 on September 12, 2018.  

Thus, NPS made pre-payments to PWI towards PWI’s Possessory Interest value in the total 

amount of $3,600,000 which PWI used to partially pay off the $14,000,000 of costs it had 

incurred to rehabilitate The Cliff House. 

111. As the end of the purported 6-month extension period approached at the end of 2018, 

NPS once again informed PWI that NPS was unprepared to designate a successor for operations 

at The Cliff House. 

112. NPS sent a letter to PWI dated December 12, 2018 in which NPS stated that it had 

determined another extension of the Contract was necessary and needed PWI to stay on in order 

to avoid an interruption of visitor services and NPS was purportedly extending the Contract until 

December 31, 2019.    
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113. While it projected that operations under the Contract would be at a loss, PWI reluctantly 

signed the extension notice on December 18, 2018 in the hope that it would ultimately be able to 

participate in the transition to a much longer contract. (In fact, PWI ended up with a $1,127,960 

operating loss in 2019.) 

114. NPS, however, again failed to comply with the mandatory legal requirements set out in 

its own regulations for issuing a valid extension. 

115. More than three months after sending its December 12, 2018 letter stating it had awarded 

an extension of the Contract to PWI, on March 20, 2019, NPS issued a notice in the Federal 

Register in which NPS stated that it “proposes to extend” the contract for operations at The Cliff 

House until December 31, 2019, even though NPS had stated in its letter to PWI dated December 

12, 2018 that “the Contract is hereby extended.”  84 Fed. Reg. 10330 (March 20, 2019). 

116. However, NPS’s second effort to extend the Contract was also invalid due to NPS not 

issuing a Federal Register notice at least 30 days before awarding the extension which was not in 

accordance with 36 C.F.R. § 51.23. 

117. In addition, as of the time of NPS’s purported second extension of the Contract, the 

Contract had already expired as of June 30, 1998 due to the invalidity of the first effort to extend 

the Contract and at that point in time there was only an unwritten implied-in-fact contract in 

place. 

118. Therefore, even if NPS had issued a timely Federal Register notice for purposes of its 

purported second extension, the Contract could not have been legally extended pursuant to 36 

C.F.R. § 51.23 as of January 1, 2020 because that regulation only applied to an existing written 
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contract as defined in 36 C.F.R. § 51.3.  As of January 1, 2020, there was no existing written 

contract, only an unwritten implied-in-fact contract.   

119. Therefore, as of January 1, 2019, the parties continued to operate under an unwritten 

implied-in-fact contract with PWI’s rights to compensation for its Possessory Interest surviving 

past the expiration of the Contract. 

120. On August 13, 2019, NPS issued a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) announcing that 

NPS was seeking parties interested in providing visitor services at The Cliff House pursuant to a 

competitively solicited 20-year lease.  

121. In its announcement of the RFQ on its website, NPS stated: 
 

A new opportunity is on the horizon as Golden Gate National Recreation Area 
invites interested parties to submit qualifications for the food and beverage 
operation at the Lands End Restaurant Properties, including the Cliff House and the 
Lands End Lookout Cafe. . .  
 
The anticipated announcement for the narrowed down selection of respondents will 
be winter 2019/2020. The 20-year Lease is anticipated to be effective fall 2020. 
 

 
122. In the RFQ, NPS stated that the successful offeror for the 20-year lease would have to 

pay PWI for its personal property pursuant to Section 12(b)(1)(ii) of the Contract. 

123. In the RFQ, NPS also stated that PWI has a registered trademark in “The Cliff House” 

mark. 

124. Due to their advanced ages, however, the owners of PWI were unable to commit to a 20-

year lease. 

125. Because PWI did not intend to seek a new 20-year lease to operate The Cliff House, it 

began efforts to locate an entity which would be interested in taking over operations as of the 
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projected date of the fall of 2020 or at the latest January 1, 2021 either under a new lease or 

under a temporary contract issued by NPS. 

126. PWI then began discussions with Aramark Corporation (“Aramark”), an entity which 

holds multiple NPS concession contracts and is well regarded by NPS, regarding Aramark taking 

over the operations and purchasing PWI’s tangible property as well as the rights to use of the 

name “The Cliff House.” 

127. PWI had agreed to cooperate with Aramark to ensure its operations were successful 

should it obtain the new lease.   

128. Nothing further occurred during 2019. 

129. NPS was again unable to have a successor in place at the end of 2019. 

130. By letter dated December 9, 2019 and sent by NPS to PWI, NPS once again stated that it 

had determined that an extension of the Contract was needed to avoid interruption of visitor 

services. 

131. And once again, NPS failed to comply with its own regulations which it was required to 

comply with to issue valid extensions. 

132. In its December 9, 2019 letter, NPS stated that “the Contract is hereby extended until 

December 31, 2020.” 

133. While it projected that operations under the Contract would be at a loss, PWI reluctantly 

signed the extension notice on December 14, 2019 in the hope that it would ultimately be able to 

participate in the transition to a much longer contract which would help it mitigate its losses 

under the Contract. (In fact, PWI ended up with an estimated $2,055,429 operating loss in 2020.) 
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134. More than nine months later, however, NPS issued a Federal Register notice in which it 

incorrectly stated that “it proposes to extend” the contract for operations at The Cliff House.  85 

Fed. Reg. 55028 (September 3, 2020). 

135. In that Federal Register notice, NPS also stated that “[t]he publication of this notice 

merely reflects the intent of the National Park Service and does not bind the National Park 

Service to extend or award” a contract for operations at The Cliff House.  85 Fed. Reg. 55028.   

136. At no time after issuance of the Federal Register notice on September 3, 2020 did NPS 

state to PWI that it was awarding PWI with a contract extension. 

137. Therefore, the purported extension of the Contract was again not valid for the same 

reasons the prior efforts to extend the Contract pursuant to 36 C.F.R. § 51.23 were not valid. 

138. After signing the December 9, 2019 letter, PWI reluctantly continued providing the 

required services to ensure no interruption in the public’s enjoyment of The Cliff House and also 

based on its assumption that the new 20-year lease would be awarded in early 2020 and the 

awardee, whether Aramark or another qualified operator, under Section 13(b)(1) of the Contract 

would be required to purchase PWI’s tangible property used in the operation, pay its Possessory 

Interest in the improvements constructed, and logically license the name “The Cliff House” 

given the clear value and recognition of that name which had been continually used for the 

operations since 1863.   

139. In March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic began in earnest and The Cliff House restaurant 

closed due to the impact of the pandemic on operations. 
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140. Nonetheless, PWI continued to diligently work towards completion of the HVAC system 

after shutting down operations in March of 2020 and pursuant to the parties’ agreement that PWI 

would be compensated for its costs in the effort. 

141. PWI completed the installation of a new HVAC system in late 2020 at which time NPS 

obtained a fully functioning new HVAC system pursuant to PWI’s significant expenditures. 

142. The HVAC system was a definite benefit to NPS because it contributed to the value of 

NPS’s structures at The Cliff House and allowed NPS to proceed with selecting a successor to 

operate at those structures. 

143. When the HVAC system was subsequently completed in late 2020, NPS agreed that 

PWI’s costs totaled $956,571.   

144. However, the total costs of $956,571 did not include extensive labor invested by PWI in 

setting up a competitive bidding process required by NPS for the new HVAC system and 

overseeing its installation. 

145. Nor did the total costs of $956,571 include the financing costs incurred by PWI for 

purposes of obtaining the funds needed to install the new HVAC system. 

146. PWI was therefore owed the full value of its costs for constructing the HVAC system 

based on both the Contract and the implied-in-fact contract that followed after the Contract, as 

well as under theories of quantum meruit and quantum valebant. 

147. On July 23, 2020, NPS stated on its website: 

The National Park Service [] announced today it has selected the top four 
respondents to the Request for Qualifications issued on August 13, 2019 for the 
food and beverage operations at the Lands End Restaurant Properties [The Cliff 
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House]. The selected respondents will be invited to respond to the Request for 
Proposals, which is the next phase of the selection process. 

 
148. After discussions with local NPS representatives throughout June 2020, on September 12, 

2020, PWI’s attorney formally emailed NPS informing it that PWI was incurring extensive 

losses and wished to cease operations prior to the end of the purported impending extension 

period date of December 31, 2020. 

149. By letter dated December 3, 2020 to PWI, NPS informed PWI that NPS had rejected 

PWI’s request to cease operations and stem its losses.  PWI also informed PWI in that same 

letter that NPS had suspended its efforts to issue a long-term lease to ensure no interruption of 

visitor services at The Cliff House. 

150. Also in that same letter, NPS stated that it was “actively reevaluating the possible future 

uses of the Concession Facilities and the feasibility of anyone operating it as a restaurant in the 

near future, whether under a concession contract or a lease.” 

151. NPS also inconsistently and for the very first time asserted in its December 3, 2020 letter 

that “Section 13(c) of your Contract, where operations are to be discontinued, applies to this 

expiration” of PWI’s operations as of December 31, 2020.  

152. NPS then demanded in its December 3, 2020 letter that PWI remove its personal property 

from The Cliff House facility by March 1, 2021.   

153. PWI desired to leave its personal property at the facility and continue to insure it to 

facilitate a sale of that property to the successor as was its right under Section 13(b)(1)(ii) which 

survived the expiration of the Contract, but NPS demanded that PWI remove the property.   
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154. As a result of NPS’ demand, PWI later held an auction to sell its personal property and 

mitigate its damages. 

155. After NPS’ announcement that it was not proceeding at that time with efforts to issue a 

long-term lease, Aramark initiated efforts through negotiations with PWI and with NPS to 

operate the facility at no cost to NPS.   

156. Aramark was very eager to take over operations at The Cliff House to ensure there was 

no interruption in visitor services. 

157. While NPS could legally have entered into a contract with Aramark to ensure there was 

no interruption of visitor services, NPS rejected Aramark’s terms. 

158. On December 30, 2020, NPS informed the public that PWI was not able to continue on 

with further operations and stated that while “the existing concession contract expires on 

December 31, 2020[, PWI’s] decision, while disappointing for us too, does not mean the Cliff 

House building will permanently close. The NPS is committed to maintaining this iconic 

building.” 

159. On December 31, 2020, PWI ceased operations at The Cliff House. 

160. At the time it ceased operations, PWI had never used the new HVAC system. 

161. In addition, at the time it ceased operations, PWI still had approximately $2,200,000 in 

outstanding loans it had obtained to pay for the improvements it made at The Cliff House which 

PWI had not been able to pay off due to the Contract’s lack of profitability. 

162. After PWI ceased operations, Mr. and Mrs. Hountalas had to put up their own property as 

collateral for these outstanding loans. 
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163. While NPS could have allowed Aramark to operate the facility and avoid any interruption 

in visitor services, NPS instead chose to not have an operator in place as of January 1, 2021 

which prevented the public from continuing to enjoy an internationally recognized attraction. 

164. In setting out Frequently Asked Questions and responses on its website regarding this 

matter, NPS stated: 

Why must the restaurant operators remove their personal property from the 
building? 
 
Because the current circumstances do not allow for an immediate successor, when 
operations are discontinued, the operator must remove their tangible property 
according to the contract signed by Peanut Wagon, Inc. NPS will provide Peanut 
Wagon, Inc. additional time after the end of the current contract to remove their 
property. 

 
165. However, the applicable surviving provision of the Contract at Section 13(b)(1)(i) refers 

to any successor, not just an immediate successor. 

166. NPS also stated in its Frequently Asked Questions and its responses: 

Will the Cliff House building be permanently closed? 
 
No. This is a temporary suspension of services. While the solicitation process for 
this operation is currently paused as a result of the pandemic, it is the intent of the 
NPS to welcome the public back in the future. 

 
(Emphasis added.) 

167. A temporary suspension of services where a successor will be brought in at some point 

does not credibly qualify as a “discontinuation” of services which would trigger Section 13(c) of 

the Contract. 

168. On April 20, 2021, NPS sent a proposed Possessory Interest Agreement pursuant to 

which NPS agreed that PWI was entitled to an additional PI value of $956,571 for the HVAC 

system construction. 
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169. In that same proposed agreement, however, NPS asserted that NPS was entitled to 

continue to benefit from PWI staying on to avoid an interruption of visitor services by reducing 

PWI’s Possessory Interest payment during that period as if the scheduled depreciation survived 

the expiration of the Contract and continued on to December 30, 2020, when PWI ceased 

operating at the site, rather the paying the Possessory Interest value as of the date the Contract 

expired on June 30, 2018.  

170. The scheduled depreciation of the Possessory Interest, however, did not survive the 

expiration of the Contract nor is there any reasonable or equitable basis for NPS’s position given 

that PWI was operating at a loss while it stayed on to ensure the public was not denied the ability 

to enjoy The Cliff House experience. 

171. Moreover, NPS’s effort to further reduce PWI’s Possessory Interest value would result in 

a windfall to NPS because the reduction did not reflect the actual decrease in the value of the 

extensive construction PWI had completed and paid for during Contract operations. 

172. In that same proposed agreement, NPS refused to pay to PWI any of the Possessory 

Interest owed to PWI, even the amounts NPS agreed were contractually owed, unless PWI 

agreed that the amount proposed by NPS constituted final payment to PWI which would 

extinguish PWI’s rights to seek additional amounts PWI believed were owed to it for its full 

Possessory Interest. 

173. PWI did not agree to waive its rights to seek additional amounts owed to it by NPS. 

174. In response, NPS sent a letter to PWI dated July 1, 2021 in which NPS stated that “NPS 

will not agree to allow PWI to ‘reserve from the release’ the claimed amount. . ..”   
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175. As a result, NPS improperly paid PWI nothing for its Possessory Interest, even though 

NPS agreed that PWI was owed at least $374,925. 

176. NPS refusal to pay PWI the amounts which NPS agreed were contractually owed to PWI 

unless PWI agreed to release its right to seek additional amounts PWI believed were owed was 

egregious, malicious and a clear attempt to put financial pressure on PWI to accept NPS’ offer 

and waive its legal rights. 

177. On February 2, 2021 the San Francisco Board of Supervisors passed a resolution that 

strongly urged NPS to immediately locate and put in place an operator of the restaurant while the 

agency continued its efforts to select a long-term tenant, and NPS confirmed that it intended to 

do so.  

178. In August, 2021, NPS announced that it was resuming its process to select a successor 

and anticipated having a new lease in place by late 2022. 

Count I 

(Breach of Contractual Duty To Pay PWI  
For The Improvements Constructed by PWI) 

 
179. PWI hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-178 set out above. 

180. Under the Contract, PWI’s rights to compensation for its Possessory Interest survive 

expiration of the Contract. 

181. At the time the Contract expired on June 30, 2018, NPS, acting on behalf of the United 

States, intended for substantially the same or similar operations to be continued by a successor. 

182. Pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Contract, in such event, NPS was obligated to require the 

successor to purchase from PWI its Possessory Interest value as of June 30, 2018 for the 
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Concessioner’s Improvements in those Government Improvements as set out in Exhibit C-2, as 

incorporated into the Contract by Amendment No. 2. 

183. That Possessory Interest value for the improvements set out in Exhibit C-2 as of June 30, 

2018, as reduced by all of NPS’s prepayments to PWI, was at least $1,214,690. 

184. While NPS intended on June 30, 2018 for substantially the same or similar operations to 

be continued by a successor, NPS could have but failed to have a successor in place as of that 

date. 

185. As a result, NPS breached Section 13(b) of the Contract by failing to require a successor 

to pay PWI the value of PWI’s Possessory Interest as of June 30, 2018 as set out in Exhibit C-2 

of the Contract as well as paying valid compensation for PWI’s continued construction of the 

new HVAC system. 

186. NPS also breached its implied-in-fact contractual duty to compensate PWI for the full 

value of the HVAC system constructed by PWI, which value both parties agreed totaled at least 

$956,571. 

187. PWI also incurred additional expenditures in constructing the HVAC system, in an 

amount to be determined at trial, which it is entitled to be compensated for by NPS.   

188. While NPS acknowledged owing PWI at least $374,925 as compensation for PWI’s 

Possessory Interest under the Contract, NPS refused to pay over these sums until and unless PWI 

waived its rights to seek full payment for its Possessory Interest. 
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189. NPS’ refusal to pay sums it agreed were owed to PWI constituted bad faith conduct 

intended to place financial pressure on PWI in order to force it to accept a lower value than it 

was entitled to under law.  

190. Even if NPS had chosen to discontinue the operations at issue as of June 30, 2018 and/or 

abandon, remove or demolish PWI’s Improvements, which NPS did not choose to do, NPS was 

required under Section 13(c) of the Contract to take such actions as may be necessary to assure 

that PWI was compensated for its Possessory Interest value as of June 30, 2018. 

191. NPS did not take any such actions to assure that PWI was compensated for its Possessory 

Interest value as of June 30, 2018. 

192. Therefore, NPS breached Section 13(c) of the Contract even if had chosen to discontinue 

the operations as of June 30, 2018. 

193. Even if neither Section 13(b) or 13(c) applied to the situation at the time the Contract 

expired on June 30, 2018, NPS was required under the Contract to pay PWI compensation for its 

Possessory Interest value based on the Sound Value of the improvements which PWI made to the 

Government’s Improvements pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 20e and 54 U.S.C. § 101915(c)(1). 

194. NPS did not take any such actions to assure that PWI was compensated for the Sound 

Value of its Possessory Interest value as of June 30, 2018. 

195. In such event, NPS failed to comply with the Contract, the implied-in-fact contract, 16 

U.S.C. § 20e and 54 U.S.C. § 101915(c)(1) and pay PWI the Sound Value of the improvements 

which PWI made to the Government’s Improvements. 
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196. As a direct and proximate result of NPS’s conduct on behalf of the United States, PWI 

has been damaged in an amount which will be proven at trial. 

Count II 
(Breach of Contractual Duty To Provide PWI With Opportunity  

To Sell Its Personal and Other Property To A Successor) 
 

197. PWI hereby repeats and realleges paragraphs 1-196 set out above. 

198. At the time the Contract expired on June 30, 2018, NPS, acting on behalf of the United 

States, intended for substantially the same or similar operations to be continued by a successor. 

199. Pursuant to Section 13(b)(i) of the Contract, in such event, NPS was obligated to require 

the successor to purchase from PWI its tangible property used or held for use within the concession 

area in connection with its operations, including but not limited to its merchandise, supplies and 

equipment. 

200. In addition, in such event PWI would have sold or licensed its intellectual property rights 

to the mark “The Cliff House” to any successor. 

201. While NPS intended on June 30, 2018 for substantially the same or similar operations to 

be continued by a successor, NPS could have had but through its own fault failed to have a 

successor in place as of that date. 

202. In addition, NPS forced PWI to remove its tangible property, supplies, merchandise and 

equipment from the site in an effort to prevent it from selling that property to the successor. 

203. As a result, NPS breached Section 13(b) of the Contract and NPS’s duty of good faith, 

fair dealing and cooperation related to PWI’s rights under the Contract by forcing PWI to 

remove its property, supplies, merchandise and equipment from the facility and failing to require 
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a successor to purchase from PWI the value of tangible property, supplies, merchandise and 

equipment used in connection with its operations and to select a successor which would have 

allowed PWI to sell or license to that successor PWI’s intellectual property rights to the mark 

“The Cliff House.” 

204. As a direct and proximate result of NPS’ conduct on behalf of the United States, PWI has 

been damaged in an amount which will be proven at trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc. prays for judgment as follows: 

 That the Court award Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc. monetary relief for the damages it has 

incurred as a result of the Defendant’s breach of Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc.’s Contract and 

other contractual obligations in an amount to be determined at trial; 

 That the Court award Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc. its attorneys’ fees and expenses as 

allowed pursuant to the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. §2412 et seq.; 

 That the Court award Plaintiff Peanut Wagon, Inc. its costs and interest as allowed by 

law; and 

 That the Court grant such other and further relief as the law and the evidence may justify 

and as the Court may deem just and proper. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      By: 
 
      s/Kevin R. Garden          .                   
      Kevin R. Garden 
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      THE GARDEN LAW FIRM, P.C. 
      901 North Pitt Street, Suite 325 
      Alexandria, VA 22314 
      Telephone: (703) 535-5565 
      Email:  kevin@gardenlawfirm.com 
    
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
      Peanut Wagon Inc. 
 
    
September 23, 2021 
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